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5.
Guardians of the Party State
"We believed then that Marxism had objectively worked out the laws of human society. … I don't want you to have any doubt: this was a comprehensive worldview which was really convincing. It was a complete, homogeneous perspective."

Jürgen Buchholz, former Stasi officer
"For me the belief in the Soviet Union and Len n's party was a sanctuary."

Erich Mielke, former Minister of State Security (Otto, 445)

"The environment in which I lived was almost exclusively a party environment. To be expelled from the party would have been my death, physically as well. …. In the first instance I am a communist and only in the second instance am I human."

Martin Voigt, former Stasi officer

"Stasi employees were committed to the idea of socialism…With it we have also acquired a sense of discipline which led us to go along with everything. For me, the primacy of politics was absolute; it was law for me."

Walter Schuster, former Stasi officer

25 January 2001. For Berlin winter it is a nice day—a good omen. I have an interview scheduled at 9:30 with Walter Schuster, a former staff officer in the department XX of the Berlin district office of Stasi. It is our first meeting and I am a bit nervous. Mapping officers, opposition members and available files onto each other as 'participants' in the same social arena has been much more difficult than I thought. Finding people whose names I glean from documents is arduous work. In a city the size of Berlin phone book searches do not seldom yield lists of names which remain four, five entries long even after pruning implausible residence locations.
 Many officers can not be found at all. Some may have died, others may no longer live in the city or they choose to be listed under their spouse’s name. Even where I finally succeed to get the right "Peter Müller" on the phone (after having stunned several wrong ones) and even where I garner some interest in the former officer himself, I mostly fail in the end because his wife vetoes his participation in the project—or so he says. Of course this is anything but surprising. In the past decade Stasi officers have become the epitome of everything that was wrong with socialism. They have come to symbolize its inhumane face. Journalistic depictions of officers and their informants frequently play on an exoticizing imagery of quasi-religious zealotry, cynical power mongering or sadistic and neurotic psychopathology. Employers have the right to check East German job candidates for Stasi connections; they also have the right to refuse employment if such a connection can be established with the help of the Stasi document center. The public sector, including city services such as parks, streets and sanitation have made it a point to present themselves as "Stasi-free." A decade after the fall of socialism, unmasking somebody's Stasi connections is still the most sensationalist aspect of working through the socialist past. The effect of the public debate is not undone by some employers who do not only not mind but probably even value former Stasi officers: private security and financial service companies above all. Accordingly, many former officers and secret informants did not want to talk. After several job changes and spells of unemployment those officers who are still working and have achieved some stability do not want to undertake anything that might possibly endanger it.
 What worsens the situation is that some officers who once were ready to speak no longer are willing to engage in a research project such as this one, because they feel that what they said before was misrepresented or presented in a disagreeable moralizing or self-congratulatory way. A small minority of former officers suspects the CIA behind my efforts and declines because even now the former class enemy is not to be assisted.
 "Snowball sampling" is the way to go then. Therefore, I needed to leave a favorable impression on Walter Schuster right at that first meeting: I needed to protect my relationship with the officer who referred me, and I needed to keep the option open that this new connection might eventually produce more referrals. 

On the tramway from my apartment in Prenzlauer Berg, the Berlin neighborhood which was the scene of many Stasi actions, to Schuster's apartment in Pankow, I wonder about what he might be willing to talk about and in which depth. I also wonder how much he might be able to remember because I am interested in circumstantially rich descriptions. After all his first day on the payroll of Stasi is surely almost half a century old and even his last day with rank and office lies more than a decade in the past. I am much less concerned that he might actively mislead me. My ease in this respect has as much to do with the kind of data I am most interested in as with the work that has already been done by others. I do not see myself as an investigator set upon uncovering spectacular, as of yet unknown Stasi operations, or to identify secret informants not yet known.
 I do not have to do that because the Stasi record about suppressing not only oppositional activity but virtually any form of organized group activity not sanctioned by the state has been established by now through the conjoined forces of the Berlin state prosecutors office, historians and members of the former GDR opposition. They have done so on the basis of the documents preserved. What is missing is much more an understanding of how this record was produced by actual human beings with particular historical experiences, working in particular organizational cultures and structures.

Having to walk two blocks from the ultimate tramway stop, I was surprised to find Schuster living in a brand new apartment complex which self-consciously showcases its post-unification construction date. Most of the other officers I got to know still live in the apartments they once were allotted by the Ministry of State Security. These are mostly located in so called "new building areas" (Neubau Siedlungen), that is in structures assembled from prefabricated concrete panels, which have after Stalin's death become socialism's signature architecture. The fact that these buildings have by now typically been dolled up with upgraded facades and new bathrooms may have contributed as much to the officers' decision to stay as the local remnants of their old social infrastructure and the comfort conveyed by an aspect of stability in a fast changing world. But Schuster had obviously moved. Not a bad point to start a conversation. Schuster greets me with the in his generation still mandatory handshake. We sit down around the small dining table in his living room. I hesitate to describe the furnishings of his room and his clothes. Such descriptions have become a staple in denouncing former GDR state functionaries as petit bourgeois, frequently reading provincialism or narrow-mindedness into them. This way of reasoning is inherently classist. The furniture in Schuster's apartment seems all new. It, like the late GDR furniture which is still in use in many officers' homes, is in line with the aesthetic preferences of the Facharbeiter  ("qualified worker") class in West Germany. Thus Schuster's apartment is somewhat "out of class" if West German "distinctions" (Bourdieu 1984) are applied, for Schuster after all was a staff officer with a university diploma. It is important to remember, however, that in East Germany the aesthetic codes of the upper echelons of the working classes became universalized as standard with normative force well beyond its origin stratum (Engler 1999). What commentators are then reacting to are differences in aesthetic conventions. Noticing these differences is one thing; linking them to character (in an often self-serving way) is simply an expression of prejudice.

Schuster invites me to a strong cup of coffee. I gladly accept. Preferring late night work I got up too late to brew my own before leaving the house. Yes, indeed, he had lived until quite recently at Alexanderplatz, right in the heart of eastern Berlin. Alas, the progressive westernization of the whole historical inner city made him feel increasingly estranged. "I did not want to keep living there to be gazed at as a strange object by western tourists." He like many other east Berliners feels crowed out from center city (cf. Glaeser 2001). And so he begins to make a whole number of angry comments about how unification was in effect a colonization, how the GDR is about to be edited out from the cityscape of central Berlin.
 "The Palace of the Republic is gone, the town hall pub is gone, so why should I stay there." These measures are so frenzied, he explains, that the new authorities were even getting rid of touristic signs pointing to the Rotes Rathaus, the "Red City Hall." Of course, he points out, that building is not nicknamed "red" because it was East Berlin's communist town hall, but because it is made of bricks and has been known as Red City Hall from well before the war. The new signs simply say "Berlin City Hall." All of this is for him just a sign of rabid anticommunism, a hatred for anything associated with the GDR. That of course was to him also visible in how former Stasi officers and former secret informants were treated: as pariahs, as criminals. Stasi officers he feels have been especially singled out. His son in law, a radio officer working for Stasi, had found employment with the Berlin park service after unification. "Nothing big" he says "just watering plants." He was dismissed for his Stasi past. He himself feels cheated out of his rightful pension because Stasi officers do in fact receive less than other former GDR state employees.

As I entered Schuster's apartment the radio news were reporting on the latest reproaches against Germany's foreign minister Joschka Fischer whose past as a student movement radical of the 1960 and 1970 has recently come under scrutiny. Conservatives in the CDU/CSU opposition and some media outlets, above all the Springer-Press papers and the weekly news magazine Stern are running a campaign against Fischer whom they try to portray as former terrorist unfit to serve as a major representative of the state.
 The CDU's chairwomen, Angela Merkel, who hails from the former GDR, chimed-in with the Fischer critics. Schuster took this as a chance to berate her. "For how long do you want to criticize people for their past" he exclaimed. Here too he saw anti-left sentiment at work and so he can now, curiously, readily identify with Fischer. That Merkel has become a vocal member of this chorus angers him especially. "This idiotic Merkel! Bei uns hatte sie alles!" ("With us she had everything!") he exclaims. "She could study physics, go to work at the Academy of Sciences, she got to get her doctorate and all, and now she has this hate of the left!" He points out that she was not even a member of the civil rights movement, then. Of course the former opposition members are just as bad, he argues. Rainer Eppelmann, a leading GDR opposition member instrumental in launching the peace movement in the GDR (see chapter 7 p.@), especially attracts his scorn. "First a pacifist, then minister of defense!" he exclaims angrily. One only need to study the documents carefully (he means the MfS' documents including character descriptions etc.) to see what kinds of people they are. None of them, he goes on, were able to win a seat in parliament on their own, which to him proves how incapable, how unattractive they really are.

Most officers, very much like Schuster let me quickly in on their emotive and cognitive understandings of unification, the GDR, socialism, Stasi, and the opposition. None left even the least bit of a doubt regarding their strong identification with party, Stasi and state in the GDR. For most of them, the GDR is still home and unification brought a very worth while experiment in social transformation to a (some think temporary) stop. Yes they acknowledge mistakes, excesses, and in retrospect wish the GDR had institutionalized a more open form of socialism. They also strongly feel that the capitalism in which they live now is not only not what they wanted, but it shows in their eyes such blatant weaknesses that there is little doubt that the present social, political and economic constitution, can not be anything but historical episode in the longer run as well. With few exceptions, they have little more than scorn for the members of the former GDR opposition. The overwhelming understanding of the officers is that the former opposition members suffer by and large from serious character pathologies which has made them then and makes them now untrustworthy individuals. Before I can tell the history of these understandings, I need to digress briefly to note how I think such a history can be developed with the help of interviews.

(Re-)Historicising Understanding/Reconstructing Spaces of Validation

It follows from the framework for the analysis of validation spaces which I have developed in the last two chapters that the officer's understanding of the GDR, socialism, capitalism and the GDR opposition are by necessity anchored in the present. Ongoing recognition, corroborations and resonances keep them actual while possibly also altering their meaning. The officers have always understood the merits of socialism against the purported demerits of capitalism. In 2001 (the year of my fieldwork in Berlin) however, unlike in 1988 for example, they do not only have their own ethnographic experience of an actually lived life in both systems, but they do need to wrestle with the question what socialism and capitalism are in entirely different discursive environments. The powerful organizations of state and party which once recognized their understandings are gone and they have been replaced with a state which consistently negotiates the officers' work in the neighborhood of criminal activity. Where the mass media once largely mirrored what they believed, they now find their most cherished understandings attacked. In consequence, the officers can not but understand themselves, and their work in Stasi against the pictures which are currently drawn about them in public discourses. If this is so, then interviews provide no direct access to the understandings officers may have held decades ago; no time capsule has preserved them in their pristine then- and thereness. Instead, historical understandings need to be reconstructed, they need to be historicized.

Biographical interviews provide very valuable clues for such reconstructive work on two different levels. On the first level they perform a particular historicization of the past in which the ethnographer is directly involved. After all it is a reconstruction of the interviewee in reaction to the interviewer in which both act also as con-joined audience. It is not without interest to analyze the interview as an interactive production in the present for the present. And sure enough this component should not be lost sight of, but one can do more with an interview. The understandings presented as historical are also the current result of an ongoing reconstructive effort which may be analyzed not only for what it says about the past, but for how this reconstruction has come about. At times, this process of becoming is more directly manifest in the interview itself. This is often the case for consciously experienced reversals of validation which are for their dramatic effects eminently narratable. Interviewees directly comment on when and why they 'changed their mind,' why they had a 'change of heart.' Whether or not these reasons are post-hoc rationalizations is of course an open question, but at least the fact of a change is consciously available. For by no means is this the case for all reconstructions. This necessitates that the ethnographer learn as much as possible about the development of the interviewee's space of validation in the course of time. The understandings presented in the interview as historical need to be read for the conditions of their own possibility as it were. To do that, the ethnographer needs to develop a sense of the environment in which the person has lived, its chances for systematically producing certain kinds of recognitions, corroborations and resonances which work together to selectively feed some understandings while slowly starving others. In part such background knowledge comes from the interview itself, by scrutinizing it for breaks in the performance, for a disjuncture of content and style, emotional thrust or narrative poise revealing understandings that seem to belong to different times as it were, because some were reproduced in a more self-same way while others have changed more noticeably. In this way the text itself becomes a digging ground for an archeology of understandings (and self).

Much of it, however, needs to come from other sources: other interviews shedding light on the same social arena as well as historical documents, texts and secondary sources. They provide important hints about the kinds of understandings the interviewee could have reasonably been expected to have had in a particular context, which however are nowhere present in the interview itself. In face of what is actually said, they are counterfactuals; in face of the other historical record they are more or less probable hypothesis about what once might have been actual understandings. The space of validation of the interviewee then needs to be investigated for its possibility to starve or otherwise transform such insinuated understandings. If it seems plausible in the end that these understandings were actual for the interviewee at a particular time, an important insight is won about the ways in which the interviewee's space of validation has wielded its effects in the course of time. While this procedure is not necessarily very accurate at the level of an individual person, it is very informative about processes of validation characteristic for particular social arenas. And this is precisely the reason, why I could not have done this project by arbitrarily assembling a cast of characters, representing a whole, but why I needed people who were interactively rather closely connected to each other.

 On the second level, the interviews contain the debris of that past. Here it is important to remember that the three forms of validation preserve while they alter: they make memories after all, even if memorization is by necessity a process in which life is historicized in the refraction of progressively current validations. Our understanding that we are called by a certain name, that we have been born on a particular day in a particular place of a particular mother is validated so frequently in so many different forms that there is little reason to assume that it has shifted much in the course of time. The immediate reason why we trust this memory is that we have found it to be reliable; and it is dependable because there are powerful epistemic ideologies and practices that make the self-same reproduction of particular understanding a central concern. Even where the reproduction of orderings is not institutionalized to such a degree however, aspects of orderings may be reproduced 'faithfully.' For example Stasi officers have by and large held onto understanding members of the peace and civil rights movements as suffering from a character disorder in spite of the fact that the validation of this understanding has shifted considerably in the course of time. In the mid-1970s it was chiefly validated by what appeared to them as an unsocialist life-style—after all, the public campaigns against such markers were still fresh in their mind; the main source of validation let's say in 1988 was the opposition members' sustained contact with western journalists, and here the negative press the GDR has received in the West over recent Stasi actions surely did its bit; in January 2001, finally, the former dissidents' supposed contradictions in performance between life in the GDR and in post-unification Germany moved to the foreground amidst the former opposition members' sustained activities to reveal the nature of Stasi suppression. 

Soldiers for a Better World

The quotations opening this chapter provide glimpses of a worldview in operation. They suggest how deeply the secret police officers I could interview believed in Marxism-Leninism, how this belief was wrapped up in strong identifications with institutions most notably the party, the state GDR and Stasi. In a sense, they reflect the success of the SED to create the kind of monolithic intentionality it envisioned for the country as a whole (see chapter 1). But why did the party's project succeed with these men? How did they come to attune their political intentionality to that of the party? How did they come to think and feel in terms of the ethics of absolute finality? If they were remade in the image of the party, if they became "new men" indeed, how so, to which degree? This chapter is the story of officers' understanding in the making where "in the making" means both – becoming and remaining once become. I will show how socialism in the guise of an idea, a person, an institution, or a setting began to be appealing to these men, and how this appeal became compelling through the interactions of resonances, recognitions, and corroborations. I will do so in the first two parts by drawing in each part more systematically on the life of one officer, while juxtaposing his development to a more general consideration of others' experience. The officer chosen to allegorize the group was selected not so much for reasons of representativeness in a demogaphic sense—after all that very notion is often just the admittance that one knows nothing about the processes which make the social what it is—but for reasons of highlighting particularly important aspects of their spaces of validation, which are especially clear cut in this particular case.

The Lure of Socialism

Before my interview partners became members of the secret police, typically at the tender age of 18 or 19, they already had heavily involved themselves in socialist organizations, especially in the communist youth movement. In fact the demonstrated dedication to socialism in word and deed was the precondition for being considered for a Stasi job in the first place. Thus, I have to show first how these young men became dedicated to the socialist cause as it was presented to them. 

Nie wieder Faschismus! ("Never again fascism!") Nie wieder Krieg! ("Never again war!") are the most notable refrains ringing through the interviews with my 25 interview partners as they try to explain to me what motivated them to become socialists, and as socialists members of the secret police of East Germany. With two exceptions, all of them were born between 1928 and 1938. They had consciously experienced the war and its immediate aftermath. They had to mourn the death of close kin and friends, they had felt the immense anxieties associated with air-raids, the uncertainties associated with decampment from their city homes. A minority of them, refugees from Western Prussia, from Eastern Pomerania, Danzig, Silesia and the Sudenten country had lost their homes entirely. A few of them were old enough and had been drawn into the Volkssturm of the Nazis, the home defense brigades made up of males either too old or too young to fight in the regular units of the Wehrmacht or the SS. They remember this more as an anxiety arising episode which owing to the chaotic circumstances of the last months of the war had lost any luster of adventure and honor.

Take Kurt Bogner, for example. He was born in 1935 in Leipzig, which was then the very heart of one of the most sizable and dynamic industrial agglomerations in all of Germany. Although Leipzig was before the Nazis came to power an SPD and KPD stronghold, Bogner's parents, the father a locksmith, and the mother a seamstress, did not have an affiliation with either one of the socialist parties or the trade union movement. However, they were, until the Nazi's abolished the organization, members of the vaguely left-leaning "Friends of Nature" (Naturfreunde) movement. According to Bogner, they were "humanistically oriented" but "apolitical" (unpolitisch) during the Nazi years. 

Bogner's narrative of his war-time memories conveys strong feelings of unease, insecurity and in the last instance outrage towards individuals and institutions he could label Nazi (all the more so in hindsight). Some time in the early forties, the older Bogners were apparently lax in flying the Nazi-flag on a holiday which prompted a threatening comment by elderly neighbors, members of the Nazi party, to fly the flag "or they would come to regret it." His parents then warned him to guard his mouth in front of these neighbors, and to greet them always very politely, "lest his father loose his job." Father Bogner was working for a local arms manufacturer. Losing his job would have meant immediate draft into the armed forces. The young Bogner found this rather troubling and very confusing because the very same neighbors acted a bit like grandparents towards him, for example by treating him to much appreciated sweets for his birthday. Bogner also recalls terrifying nights in the shelter as the air-raids on Leipzig began in 1943. Their house took a hit twice but their apartment was only damaged not entirely destroyed unlike that of his paternal grandparents who "got bombed out" and had to be evacuated from the city to a village between Leipzig and Dresden. Bogner recalls that he got so frightened of the sirens warning the population of an imminent bombardment that his parents decided to send him at the beginning of 1944 to the evacuated grandparents. The carpet-bombing of 4 December 1943 which devastated most of Leipzig's inner city may have done its part to hasten that decision. Consequently, the young Bogner spent most of 1944 in a village which he self-consciously describes, "in today's words," as dominated by a local lord and by large farmers. He also describes it as thoroughly in the grip of the Nazis as the following episode seems to have made clear to him. The wife of the local Nazi party leader complained one day to his grandparents' landlady, the wife of the local leader of the Nazi farmer's organization, that young Bogner had failed to greet her properly in the morning. In spite of his plea of innocence, the consequence of this intervention was that he was punished by his elementary school teacher to write one hundred times "I have to greet Mrs. 'what-not' every morning with “Heil Hitler!”." His feelings of injustice and humiliation mingled with a troubling unease about the mistreatment of slave laborers from Poland and the Soviet Union in the village. He wondered why they were forced to wear readily identifiable badges, "P" s for "Poles" and Ost ("East") for Soviet citizens on their clothing. He couldn't understand why they were not allowed to eat with the Germans. All this, as he says, "burdened" him.  At the end of 1944 his parents headed his pleas to take him back to Leipzig. 

Like many other successful working class families, the Bogners had purchased a little garden plot outside of the city limits. On the way to their plot, the Bogners regularly passed a spot which became in March 1943 one of the first concentration camp Außenkommandos to supply German industry with slave labor, in this case from the Buchenwald camp just north of Weimar, about 130km southwest of Leipzig. In passing, the Bogners could see beyond the barbed wire fences and watchtowers how the completely emaciated inmates in their striped outfits toiled away at building the infrastructure, and once the camp was completed, aero plane fuselages.
 One day, as the American frontline drew close, they saw a big cloud of smoke over the camp. The older Bogner leapt onto his bicycle to go and see what was going on. He came back completely discombobulated. He had in fact witnessed how the SS herded all inmates into buildings which they nailed shut and set on fire while shooting everybody who tried to escape.

Bogner explains that it was this event which prompted his father and him to conclude "We have to do something! Such a system should never take root here again. We have to do something! We have to be engaged, we can no longer just watch as in the 20s and 30s." Thus, he explains, his father and mother joined the re-founded KPD even before it was in 1946 unified in the Soviet occupational zone with the SPD to form the SED, the future ruling party of East Germany. Encouraged by his parents and introduced by a cousin, the young Bogner himself joined the "antifascist youth" (Antifa-Jugend) a fore-runner of the "Free German Youth" and its children's organization, the "Pioneers." Bogner's emergence of his own understandings about Nazi rule can be schematically presented as a temporal succession and integration of a number of dialectic "triangles" of resonance, corroboration and recognition (see chapter 4, figures 5, 8 and 10) which have led to a solidification of the relationship to his parents.
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It is remarkable to which degree Bogner's story shows how the core socialist messages of "Never again war!" and "Never again fascism!" as well as socialism's call for "social justice' are articulating and thus resonating with  his own life experiences. The emotional schemata which Bogner began to develop during the war, especially the Nazi's as an object of his fear and outrage, as well as the Nazis as triggers of his helplessness and shame are mirrored by socialist propaganda up to the very end of the GDR. In fact  they constitute the core of the SED’s  claim to legitimacy (cf. Meuschel, 1992). Socialism moreover resonates with Bogner in answering to his emerging questions about why he felt uneasy about the Nazi's and wherein precisely their evil lay. In particular, socialism built a powerful bridge between questions of social justice on the one hand and the Nazi's unleashing of the world war and the Holocaust on the other.  Moreover, socialism answered to his desires to be rid of the Nazi influences including any positive connections he has entertained to Nazism, Nazi institutions or persons identified as Nazis. What is more, socialism not only offered him the promise to fight fascism, but it offered him a role in this fight. Finally, it is noteworthy that key authority figures within his own social networks, his parents above all (but other relatives too) decisively turned towards socialism as well, stetting a model while again positively recognizing his own orientation.
 The understandings offered by socialism resonated with his own desires to make sense of what had happened during the war. The positive recognition of his involvement in socialist institutions within his authority networks began to nourish a positive identification between Bogner and socialism. 
[image: image2.emf]Figure 2: Elements of Bogner’s space of validation 1946

(pre-war to

present)

socialist 

understand

.

understanding

of Nazis

parents

ego

+

+

+

_

_

_

(during 

the war)

(during war

esp. 1945)

Bogner’s negative understanding of the Nazi’s is recognized throughout 

the war by his parents (rightmost square dot triangle). Socialism as an 

ideology resonates both with his and his parents questions about Nazism 

(two triangles in the middle with thin base line). This resonance opens 

space for the authorization of the party which can then on its own begin to 

recognize Bogner’s understandings of the Nazis (two leftmost square dot 

triangles).

party

+

+

+


After analyzing the forces at play in the space of validation which created a positive identification of young Bogner with socialism it is important to investigate whether there might not have been other forces working in the opposite direction. After all, the majority of the German population reacted much more cautiously, in a large number of cases even with outright hostility to the Russians and their plans for a socialist Germany. In view of the Nazi's cultivation of a general fear of the Russians and their incessant propagandistic representation as inferior, dirty and violent, in view of the even older painful left-left
 and left-right divisions during the Weimar years, such negative resonances would not have been surprising. Moreover, the negative and often traumatic experiences many Germans had with the Soviet occupational forces did in many cases corroborate negative evaluations of Russians and the ideology they brought with them. 

Bogner's narrative shows an awareness of this possibility by remarking explicitly that nobody in his family or network of friends actually suffered in any way from the Russian occupation. To the contrary, his memories of encounters with Russian soldiers are thoroughly positive, as he makes clear, especially in contrast to his experience of American troops. Characterizing the immediate postwar situation as one of chronic hunger, in which a search for something edible was the all absorbing task of everyday life, Bogner describes how the Americans were laughingly burning food leftovers, including sweets, the luxury item par excellence. Worse, they did so under the eyes of children (!) who had come with an empty stomach to beg for something to eat. Bogner insists that this was not only his experience, but that a number of other children were describing very similar experiences. In Bogner's description Americans are committing an act of annihilating recognition, which accurately assesses the desires, thoughts or feelings of others to use this knowledge to let them feel their utter worthlessness in denying any common human bond with them. By contrast, he describes the Russians as committing an act of altruistic recognition by sharing their meager rations of rice or bread with the children, a most powerful symbol of common belonging which as Bogner's case makes clear, communicates to others that they are worth someone's personal sacrifice. 

If Bogner had had negative understandings of the Russians before the end of the war, and if they were in fact initially corroborated by post-war experiences, then the forces at play in his space of validation have successfully extinguished them. There are two related moments in his narrative which point to the possibility that his understandings of the Russians might have  been more ambiguous at one point.. There is, first, the unprompted direct comparison between his experiences with American and Russian soldiers. And there is, second, the immediate placement of German post-war suffering at the hand of the Soviet forces (including widespread rape) into the context of the much bigger Russian sufferings during the war.
 Such direct comparisons may in fact be traces of later narratives and their recognizing effect. After all, the post-war East and West German propaganda material continuously worked with precisely these comparisons. Both moves appeared to me at first as defensive, as ideological rather than experiential. (see my reflexive post-script). However, they both may at least in part also have been an interview effect. Not only was I of West German origin and in addition to that a representative of an American university, but owing to what I though I had understood about the post-war occupation, I may have looked rather startled at his account. Moreover, it has to be considered that he was also arguing in the context of prevalent, publicly disseminated understandings after unification which negatively validated and thus challenged his understandings. 

Bogner's narrative and the manner in which the SED legitimated its rule in the GDR are closely related to each other. There is no doubt that the party's account of its role has profoundly shaped Bogner's account of his own life. It has done so through its efforts in selective recognition, its attempt to create a memory culture increasing the likelihood of particular resonances at the expense of others as well as by creating experiential environments standing a higher chance to corroborate favored understandings.  It is important, not to misunderstand this process as a simple case of a passive subjection to propaganda, as a kind of ‘brain-washing’ if you like. The condition for the possibility of an agency to fashion the understandings of a person into a personality it finds amenable to its own purposes is the identification of the person in question with that organization.
 What needs to be taken into account is the dynamic interaction between resonances, recognitions and corroborations. Recognized understandings have to resonate, otherwise the authority of the recognition dispensing agency is at risk. In Bogner's case, for example, the equation of anti-fascism and socialism propagated by the SED resonated both with his war time and post-war experiences. At the same time however, any changes in recognitions and corroborations also affect the resonances within an existing fabric of understandings. In Bogner's case, for example, peace, socialism, anti-fascism, pro-Soviet attitudes, anti-capitalism and anti-Americanism become more and more an inextricable totality integrated by necessary linkages. Unless there are memory practices which mark some understandings as historical, that means within the model presented here as of past actuality,
 one has to be careful not to simply identify fashioned understandings presented in an interview with the historical understandings which were in fact action guiding in the past. The interview provides an excellent account for why 50 years later Bogner still believes that socialism was an almost logical answer to his life. This does not mean at all that his story is worthless as an account of why Bogner became a Stasi officer then. After all, it clearly establishes linkages between understandings and real events. However, the development of his own understandings in the refraction of recognizing propaganda and future life experiences has probably magnified and purified some of these linkages while silencing others. While these understandings are constructed and reconstructed they are still grounded in actual experience. They are fashioned and true at the same time.

Bogner is, among the Stasi officers I have interviewed not the most typical case, but for several reasons a very interesting one. Not only does his field of validation combine most of the elements of his colleague's fields, but in many ways he represents the ideal subject of socialist propaganda. Thus, before I will return to Kurt Bogner's life story, it is important to review how his beginning identification with socialism compares to that of his colleagues. No other officer had as dramatic an encounter with the crimes of the Nazi's as Bogner. Though, any remember bullying by Nazi-zealots. One officer recalls for example how his family changed grocery stores once the owner of the one they used to frequent demanded a "Heil Hitler" of every one entering the store This does not necessarily mean that such incidences were terribly important at the time they happened (although they may very well have been rather upsetting), but it does mean that seen in retrospect such incidences corroborate socialist understandings of fascism and its evil. 

It is also important to note that nobody has found his way to socialism without the help of a significant intermediary. Although these were very often parents who irrespective of their previous political commitments
 made a decision to join the SED after the war, important intermediaries could also be other relatives, friends of parents, teachers, fellow workers. Among re-established networks of Weimar-time communists, the influence of authority relations was often unambiguous and strong, following classical socialization models. Such officers moved from a socialist family, to "progressive" schools and decisively socialist employment relations such as Stasi. Horst Haferkamp says for example: 

"I have often been lucky in my life. Part of this was that my father as the oldest of three brothers [all Weimar-communists] was the only one who did not die in the war. My father was a politically conscious man, ... a member of the KPD and later of the SED. There was nothing on my way to 11th grade [when he was hired by Stasi] which could have distracted me from this path, but I have, from all sides, only received encouragement [in becoming a socialist]." 

For some of them, the way to socialism was almost fortuitous in the sense that they were drifting about, ultimately landing in the lap of institutions with a strong socialist flavor, in which they were made to feel at home. Wolfgang Schermerhorn had lost both of his parents, his father to the war, his mother, right after the end of the war, to pneumonia which she was ill-suited to survive after several exhausting months, fleeing with four children from the advancing Red Army from West Prussia to Leipzig. After a stint with foster parents, and three years with different relatives who had maintained according to Schermerhorn their anti-Semitic and anti-communist views, keeping him from attending meetings with the communist youth organization, Schermerhorn was apprenticed to a small independent cabinet maker in Dresden. He describes the atmosphere in this shop as exploitative and abusive because he was treated as cheap labor. After one year, friends made him switch to a large publicly owned carpenter's shop, where they had a separate teaching gang and masters tending to the needs of apprentices. The leader of the work gang to which he belonged as a young journeyman in the same company, a member of the SED whom he much admired, convinced him to join the party. Owing to the experience of both workplaces and his new social environment, Schermerhorn says that some of the central tenets of socialism sounded rather convincing to him. It made sense now that socialism would bring exploitation to an end through the public ownership of capital and also that the labor class ought to be the leading class because it produces all valuables. The party articulated his experiences that is socialist understandings resonated with his past which at the same time corroborated them, thus endowing socialist institutions with authority.

Nothing seems to have been as important in connecting future Stasi officers with socialism, than the sheer joy of participating in the life of socialist organizations. They provided a sense of order in the midst of chaos; they painted a bright picture of the future in a historically particularly bleak moment; and they provided orientation where other organizations had just thoroughly discredited themselves. All officers describe an enormous enthusiasm sweeping through these organizations at the end of the 1940s and the beginning of the 1950s. This was not exactly a revolutionary ferment (though they had discussions about the question whether they could count as revolutionaries!) but something very nearly like it in its mobilizing sweep, in its heartfelt hopes connected with a new departure and its firm belief in its success. Says Horst Haferkamp recounting his school experiences: 

"We had strong, emotionally colored experiences of communitas (Gemeinschaftserlebnisse) then. Just to give you one example, which has not for nothing stuck in my memory. Somehow the song "build up, build up, build up, Free German Youth build up" surfaced and we sang it, without the encouragement of any teacher….,in our break, again and again, the whole class, with such an enthusiasm, we were really euphoric."

Walter Schuster, who hails from a poor labor-class family in western Thuringia, describes how workers were rebuilding their factory. With tears in his eyes he is expressing his pride at a kind of self-found agency in the following words: "We have made our own things. We were building a power-station. One would have never known that simple people who were part time farmers could do such things." Besides pointing to the enthusiasm he felt at work in the reconstruction effort, his wording points directly to another reason why socialism resonated with him: it promised to rectify the long standing and heart felt injuries of class. It pledged to give to common people what was their due not only in terms of better resources, but in terms of respect which included access to higher education and subsequently better positions in the social pecking order. Quite a number of officers reported that their parents too would have liked to do something else with their lives which unfortunately did, in their younger years held little more in stock than humble working class occupations. And thus they reminded their sons that they indeed were given an opportunity that capitalism before had withheld from them. This is an interesting case of what might be called complex super-ego validation. The desires and hopes of the parents become those of the child through the usual processes of identification. The promises of socialism resonated in pursuit of these desires which were then also explicitly recognized by the parents. They were ready to give this recognition, however, because their’ own experiences were first articulated by socialist understandings, which were through the advancement of their own sons also corroborated as promises kept. Validation thus came at the same time from within, from without, from intimate authorities and social institutions. 

Ernst Stellmacher born and raised in the industrial heartlands of Saxony describes how in the factory where he was a worker and leading functionary of the FDJ they formed the first youth brigade. This was an assembly team which consisted entirely of young people and which worked side by side the older, hierarchically structured teams. Vividly he recalls the enthusiasm with which young people involved themselves in these then rather radical new forms of organizing work life. A decisive part of all of this is a very deliberate policy of the new socialist authorities to dedicate extra resources to young people, to make them feel welcome and what is perhaps more, to make them feel important in bringing forth a just social order. As the examples I have just described make clear, these claims to a better, more just life were immediately corroborated by the experience of different work conditions and as we shall see a very favorable set of career opportunities. In educational institutions, the communist youth organization was given considerable influence in organizing almost all extra-curricular activities, by being consulted over students’ and teachers promotions, and eventually even over grades. 

Students who were functionaries of the FDJ often thoroughly enjoyed these activities and the recognition that came with the function. Several officers describe how busy they became in this role and also how the curricular aspects of school could not only take second seat to the "social-political involvement" (gesellschaftspolitisches Engagement) but how such activities could, much like sport, also compensate for less than satisfying academic performance in building self-esteem. Since they knew that their activities were encouraged by the new political order and deemed important, this also gave them a sense of independence from and a sense of power over their teachers—especially if they were known not to be communists. 

What all of them emphasize about their social-political involvement is the joy of acting in unison with others and the idea of belonging to a community of like-minded people. Through the history of the immediate past, the persecution of communists by the Nazi's and the eventual victory of the Soviet Union over Nazi Germany together with their newly found teleological and Manichaean philosophy of history this was experienced as a community of fate. The feelings emerging out of these activities at the local routine level were not directly like Durkheim's effervescence, not quite as intensive, but they had some of the same energizing effects of giving everybody the sense of being a member of a universal brotherhood.
 This was then amplified by their participation in mass-propaganda events such as the World Festival of Youth, or national meetings of the Pioneers or the FDJ, which indeed had to the enjoyment of the participating officers obvious effervescent qualities. The officers have pointed out that the effect of these events were specially pronounced because there were, at that time, not all too many alternatives to this kind of merrymaking.

The officers are describing here a very interesting pathway on which political understandings are formed, actualized, and in the last consequence normalized. Very common desires for companionship, pleasure in society, and the acknowledgement of personal worth serve as starting point. The party provides an organized social context in which these desires can be met through the participation in party sanctioned practices. This process of articulation creates a complex interlinking of kinesthetic and emotive understandings: the practices are enjoyed, one might become fond of the location where and the institution in which they take place, and one grows to like at least some of the people with whom one interacts there etc. Since the other participants also enjoy these activities, the participants begin to recognize each other’s understandings and thus each other. Since these practices are, however systematically linked as well with discursive understandings, that is with ideological messages, these begin to resonate by association even if they would not resonate otherwise. Moreover, this enjoyment of practices, places and people typically authorizes at least those participants who are perceived as enabling one’s own good feelings. Unless otherwise managed through authority mediating social arrangements (for example of parents or valued friends), this authority can now spill over into domains which have only secondarily something to do with the original desires.
 The systematic connection of the desire fulfilling practices with ideological messages facilitates this spillover into an explicitly political domain. Subsequently, these authorities can then recognize and in the long run fashion political understandings. The fact that there is hardly an ideological organization from churches over trade unions to social movements which do without extensive efforts to create resonances for their political messages by association, points to the potential effectiveness of this process for the actualization of its political understandings in members. This process of creating resonances by association is also a nice example for the interdependence of cognitive, emotive and kinesthetic understandings. 

As soon as Bogner had joined the socialist youth movement, identifications with socialism and its institutions were continuously recognized. In other words, their recognition was institutionalized. To a significant degree this was recognition by privilege granted in the form of selective access to education and jobs, by which the new powers could reward demonstrated belief and active commitment. In Bogner's case such recognition was at first indirect, operating through the identification with his father's success. With the help of his "Friends of Nature" acquaintances and through the affiliation with the party the older Bogner could embark on an administrative career, leaving his blue-collar background behind. 

What is more, the good use of privilege can in turn bring admiration which is of course nothing if not another form of recognition. Recognition can thus beget more recognition, functioning like a form of capital. Feeding onto itself it can create a self-amplifying, belief-consolidating effect.
 Bogner remembers how proud he was of his father who got "called" (berufen) to the labor office and began to counsel recent middle school graduates (including the younger Bogner's own class-mates) on career opportunities.
 Due to father Bogner's work, the family became quickly known and respected, as he remembers. Soon enough, the younger Bogner himself came to enjoy recognition through privilege. After eighth grade (the end of mandatory schooling at the time) Bogner received an opportunity to continue with his formal education at an Oberschule, a college prep school. Bogner is well aware of the fact that he owed this opportunity not only to his grades but also to his class background as well as to his and his parents' political orientation. Like his father "he was given a chance" and drew from this not only joy but also a keen sense of obligation. 

Not only is recognition pleasurable for the receiver but pleasure resonates by answering desire. Bogner thoroughly enjoyed his activities with the communist youth movement. He marvels at the camping trips into the country, which otherwise the family could not have afforded; he fondly remembers the social activities such as helping the elderly. Given how much he enjoyed participating in the youth movement, it is perhaps not surprising that he was further recognized by being asked to take a position of responsibility with the movement: he became the head of a group which was coextensive with his class in high school. From then on he organized the activities which others might have found pleasurable thus affording him their gratitude and respect. Responsibility, as long as it entails agency, is a potential for successful action and thus further recognition.

By the beginning of the 1950s, therefore, Bogner found himself on a self-reinforcing trajectory of recognition and resonance that every successful career affords. And there were many young people his age who felt exactly the way he did, and who were happily travelling along similar paths. With this feeling of enthusiasm for socialism also came an interesting change in epistemic ideologies. Bogner and others emphasize the pleasure of being with like-minded people, they talk of the advantages of attending "progressive" (which means socialist in orientation) schools, being taught by progressive teachers. Authority became in this context more and more defined by commitment to the party and its ideology. This was hastened along by another development. The introduction of socialism into the GDR did of course not proceed without protest and more or less passive but only occasionally active resistance. Not only had many Germans been active Nazis with decisively anti-Soviet attitudes, but the Soviets began to expropriate private property first from people with known Nazi ties, later applying across the board size limitations to privately held property. Moreover, the Soviets aggressively appointed loyal communists to as many leading positions as possible. The consequence was the beginning of a mass exodus of people which until the building of the Berlin Wall made almost 3 million people abandon their homes in Soviet occupied Germany and later the GDR to flee to the west. None of Bogner's relatives or close friends were among them. This context lead very quickly to a pronounced we versus them mentality: "who is not for us is against us," became the dominant battle cry. Tertium non datur!
The world historical events at that time indirectly corroborated Bogner's suspicions about the evil machinations of the class enemy. The Korean war was proof. And so was the GDR worker uprising of 17 June 1953. Bogner had a much liked cousin who was a worker in a factory. She told him that the newly established production norms which triggered the demonstrations were impossible to fulfill. So, he concluded, there was a real kernel of worker's dissatisfaction and concern. But then he saw with his own eyes how demonstrators stormed the Kulturhaus in Leipzig, broke the windows, threw out type-writers and chairs and set fire to the building. The Kulturhaus was an icon of the local labor movement. Built during the Weimar years, it became a workers' debating club, meeting place, pub, fun-spot, a union house. Bogner says: "Only the Nazis closed it, and it was opened again in 1945." Could it really be, Bogner asked, that workers would destroy their own house? So he got convinced that the whole demonstration was clearly highjacked by people with counterrevolutionary intentions. Corroborations and resonances together thus support here the official party line. He also supported re-armament in the GDR. Yes at the beginning he argued with comrades in the youth movement, he took his "never again war" seriously. But then, he too agreed that East Germany had no choice after the West had taken the first step. Again, in both of these cases doubts could be relativized within his authority networks and relativization was grounded in corroborating events. When Stasi asked him to join in 1954 Bogner felt honored for being asked and signed up. He was 19 then. 

Security Bureaucrats

None of the officers I have interviewed had planned on a Stasi career. All knew that it existed; some had heard about particular actions because Stasi was then still involved in “public relations management” (Öffentlichkeitsarbeit). Yet nobody had an idea what exactly Stasi did, that is, what different kinds of work it was involved in, what life in the various branches would be like or why it should be particularly desirable or for that matter undesirable to become a Stasi officer in general or a member of any branch in particular. Such knowledge was considered to the end of the GDR top secret and the officers themselves learned much about the organization as a whole only once they advanced very high up or once it was finally dissolved. Moreover, even if one of them should have wanted to, one could not apply for a Stasi job. Self-applications were regularly discarded as security hazards. Instead, Stasi cherry picked and approached the people it wanted. What they were looking for is not only deep dedication to the socialist cause, as evidenced for example by a continuous active involvement in the communist youth movement, but also people whose immediate social network looked as if it would not question or endanger this commitment. Close ties to westerners or people who were regarded as harboring "inimical-negative" attitudes to the party state were disqualifying, as were "life style choices" which were deemed to increase the vulnerability to blackmail such as homosexuality, indebtedness, alcoholism or gambling. For all of the officers I interviewed, therefore, their Stasi career began with an unexpected call by some official or the other, most likely the director of their school, or an older higher functionary in the youth movement. Upon arrival they were told that there were two "gentlemen" who desired a conversation with them. These "gentlemen" then typically identified themselves as Stasi officers.

Beginnings

Not surprisingly, then, all officers harbored other career ideas before Stasi approached them. Many had already shown a strong interest in the armed forces (until 1955 the paramilitary "barracked people's police") often because they considered this a particularly patriotic career choice (which does not exclude the possibility that especially those attracted by the navy also felt the romantic appeal of the sea). Others were set upon quite different careers. Kurt Bogner for example, had already applied to study economic planning; Horst Haferkamp, whose life-narrative I will use as an allegorizing anchor for this section, was eying philosophy. No matter what however, working for Stasi was not only presented to them as an honor, a deep sign of the party's trust to them, but also as the mission (Parteiauftrag) the party had had in stock for them: this was going to be their position in class warfare. When Haferkamp was called out of class in 11th grade to meet two Stasi recruiters they began their conversation with the question 

"…whether I would be ready to work for the party after the final exams. And there I have said yes, without any discussion at all what this was about in detail and whether one could earn money that way. It was for me in accordance with my education and my political convictions a great honor to be asked and there was only this answer. And it was for me entirely unimportant if it turned out that I should have become a mountaineer, a member of the foreign service or a miner." 

Not everybody remembers being quite as unwavering as Haferkamp. Many conferred with people they trusted, with parents or the friends of parents. These, however, not having enough hard information either, and typically as committed to socialism as the candidate, could only make vague suggestions that it was an important task and that they might want to say "yes."
 Horst Stellmacher, entering slightly older and with much more professional experience, used Stasi's call to escape another party mission he was designated and resigned to fulfill, namely that of becoming a full time functionary of the communist youth movement, a task the publicity of which always made him slightly uncomfortable. The mixture of the quasi public recognition afforded them by the state (for their capability and trust-worthiness) and the appeal to act in accordance with their publicly avowed principles, and thus to recognize themselves in their recognition by the party did the trick. They signed on.

For almost everybody I could talk to, their work at Stasi began in the role as an "under cover investigator" (verdeckter Ermittler) which means that they were typically made to participate in the kind of security checks I have mentioned at the end of chapter 2. Endowed with official ID cards trying to convince their more or less unsuspecting interlocutors that they were in fact not who they were, that is young completely inexperienced Stasi officers, but seasoned officials working for some civilian governmental agency, they were sent out to question neighbors or colleagues about the habits, thoughts and activities of a particular person. For some officers this kind of work was merely boring and they took it as one of those things one has to go though to move on. That meant in a large number of cases moving on to officer school which followed for some in a matter of weeks, for others it was already marked on the longer short term horizon. Some officers found in this investigative work a nice reprieve from the stress of the final exam year at high school, for yet others it resonated with some of their curiosities in bringing them in contact with people they might have not met otherwise, for example with prostitutes.
 Finally, there were officers to whom this kind of work with its secrecies already signaled that they belonged to a small elite much better informed, much deeper in the know than average citizens or even other party members.

For quite a few this low level investigative work came nevertheless as a choc, because they felt forced into "misstating the truth." Martin Vogler recalls: "I hated it, I was supposed to pretend that I worked for the senate [the city government of Berlin]; I approached this work with real horror and I was close to giving up." Karl Maier too remembers: "I didn't like the conspiratorial aspect of it." However, such negative resonances with perceived moral duties were in most cases overcome by a mixture of different kinds of rationalizing recognitions. These ranged from the pragmatic "all beginning is difficult" to the concrete evocations of more positive resonances by appealing to vibrant "defender of the fatherland" images. After all, paternal friends or older colleagues argued that the class enemy was working with just such measures, leaving them no choice but to retaliate in kind. This was class warfare after all, not child's play.

In this context it is interesting that the question of lying rose twice to prominence in my interviews with former officers while their wives were present. They participated because they felt intrigued by the opportunity to catch up with aspects of their husband's past about which they felt they didn't know enough. Both wives were party members but they did not work for Stasi. In each instance the officer explained how he worked under "cover" of some other agency to which their respective wives responded in unison by saying "you mean a lie." Their husbands reacted in exactly the same way too, both in terms of the emotional tone of their response – with indignation – and in terms of the argument they made to defend themselves. Peter Wagner retorted that he didn't want to digress into a lecture about the necessity to work under cover in secret service contexts. He insisted he would have had to give up his job right there and then if he had considered what he did a form of lying. Horst Haferkamp said: "The important thing was that it has to serve the cause of the working class, … And if it does not, it is no good and if it does, it is ok." With these answers, the officers have both in effect taken recourse to arguments in terms of the ethics of absolute finality. Needless to say that it is not the case that honesty was not propagated as a value in the GDR. However, the point was to understand that it could not be a value per se. Instead it was important to learn when to be honest and when it was better not to.
 My point here is simply that absolute finality did not come "naturally" but needed to be practiced and recognized in everyday life in part against that resonance with older thinking (here: setting honesty absolute) that was so frequently denounced as an impediment to socialist development.

The next step on the career ladder is the entry into officer school. This is therefore a good moment to review quickly some important problems of recruitment and training Stasi faced during the mid-1950s. Since the party paid much attention to recruiting politically reliable people into Stasi, which meant not only that it displayed a strong preference for people with a labor class background who had shown strong commitment to the socialist project in some function, but also that no former members of fascist security agencies would be considered, the pool of actually qualified personnel was very small indeed. In it were mainly people who had collected relevant experiences in the Weimar-KPD's intelligence apparatus (M-Apparat), in some function for the communist international, in the Spanish Civil War or some Soviet military or intelligence agency. Communists with such backgrounds were immediately earmarked for leadership positions. All three ministers of Stasi, Wilhelm Zaisser (1950-53), Ernst Wollweber (1953-57) and Erich Mielke (1957-89) and a number of the first generation leadership personnel belong into this category. Weimar communists incarcerated by the Nazis in high security prisons or concentration camps who have had experiences with underground KPD work were often taken into the immediate postwar police service as well and were since 1950 too employed in Stasi leadership positions. 

The emphasis on political reliability implied then that Stasi had to recruit its rank and file especially for local and regional offices from an applicant pool which was not really qualified for such work; by and large they had neither the kinds of formal qualifications, nor the kind of life experiences which might have predisposed them to becoming effective secret police agents. This led quickly to a number of problems. In a conference between SED security experts and Soviet councilors with Walter Ulbricht it was remarked in particular that Stasi employees with lacking formal training and or experience showed considerable deficiencies in recruiting and working with highly qualified informants (Gieseke 2000, 187). Thus Stasi launched a qualification campaign which took a two pronged approach. It aimed at recruiting candidates with a higher level of formal education (meaning 12 years rather than the then still quite common 8 or 9 years) and it aimed at improving the system of internal training. The latter led ultimately to the step-wise upgrading of Stasi's school in Eiche, a small village outside of Potsdam on the south-western city limits of Berlin (cf. Gieseke 2000, 187-97). The development of this school is an interesting index for the progressive formalization and indeed bureaucratization of Stasi. Up until 1955 the school offered only intensive short-term training sessions ranging from a few weeks to a yearlong course. From 1955 onward it offered full two year officer training courses, in 1966 it was recognized as a diploma granting "law-school" which starting in 68 acquired the right to grant doctoral degrees as well. In 1984 it began with full 4-year courses. 

This school in Eiche is where most of the officers in my sample were headed sooner or later. More commonly they attended as full-timers; some, however, were deemed so irreplaceable by their superiors that they were only allowed to become correspondents. Eiche produced in some officers feelings of elation. Jörg Assmann said: 

“One got the feeling to belong to a socialist elite, or better perhaps to an avant-garde. In the center of it all was the education to see oneself as a member of a community, a collective, as part of whole, as an active part of a whole. One felt as a part of that force that propelled the GDR towards becoming a better society, all the more so since there was ample literature about the shortcomings of capitalism." 

Even though most officers agree that such feelings and thoughts were part of the Eiche experience, all in all it was a hard time for those who went there in person. For the first three months they were not allowed to return home and later they could do so only every four weeks for what amounted for many to a mere 24 hour stint. Initially, they were not even allowed to leave the barracks. After a few months they could do so in larger groups under guidance of an officer, and even as seasoned students they could only go out in a group of three. The officers remember their time in Eiche with that peculiar retrospective pleasure in survived hardship that derives from the eminent narratability of an unusually intense but luckily closed life episode. Their stories much resemble those told by military draftees elsewhere. And yet there is something special about them. Some of the merely silly, innocuous or otherwise trivial actions leading to public reprimand or punishment are not presented as injustices but rather as personal failings which were met with an adequate response. 

Take Jürgen Buchholz. In his last year at high-school he worked for a couple of weeks as a farmhand. He invested his salary to have a suit tailored out of a rarely available mouse-grey corduroy fabric that he had had the good luck to find somewhere on the market in East Berlin. That suit, its fabric, the way it was buttoned, as he says "in no way resembled current GDR fashion”. With this suit and a pair of crepe-shoes, which were considered dernier cri at the time, albeit western too, he was seen at a dance event by one of his fellow students. The fact that he wore such attire was immediately made public at the wall newspaper of his study group at school. In a specially called meeting of the communist youth movement, wearing such attire was censored as petit bourgeois. Buchholz agreed to this assessment in an exercise of critique and self-critique. 

As I have pointed out in chapter 2, the ritual of critique and self-critique aimed at producing shame for failure to self-objectify. For the shame affect to set in, the person needs to agree on some level with the accuser. Where shame does not materialize because the accuser does not agree, anger is often the more immediate response which may be followed by sadness about the isolating aspects of the procedure (Tomkins,1963, Scheff and Retzinger 1991). So I asked Buchholz whether he could remember how he felt in the proceedings in which he was censored as petit bourgeois. He insisted he had no bad feelings about it either then nor afterwards. Of course this was surprising not only because most communist renegades (e.g. Leonhard (1955) have left us rather gruesome accounts of their experiences in critique and self-critique during the Stalin years. It was also surprising, because Buchholz had just so lovingly described the suit and the way he got it. Yet, as if to answer my puzzlement, he quite vividly remembered another "funny thing" as he put it, that he was not promoted that very year either. And here at last it seems as if he displaced his patent disappointment to an exact statement of related facts. He pointed out that this cost him every month dearly in salary. He received only 525 instead of 570 Marks and that he was, although among the better students, one in a group of merely four out of a total of more than 100 students who were not promoted. He then attributed his non-promotion to the fact that his group organizer knew that his mother ran a little shop and that he was therefore strictly speaking not of proletarian origin. Yet this too did, according to him, not trigger any resentment on his part. It was true after all. 

Another interesting case is that of Horst Haferkamp. He explains how upon arrival the entire group of newcomers was divided into "study groups" of 25 students each of which were militarily speaking platoons. To remind new arrivals of Stasi's character as a "military organ," students at Eiche, contrary to normal practice, wore uniform, marched to lunch etc.
 Every study group was assigned a class room in which most of its instruction took place. Three students in every platoon were selected for the functions of platoon leader, party secretary and coordinator of studies. Haferkamp assumed the role of the latter and became good friends with the holders of the former two offices – a fact which may have as much to do with their shared responsibility as with their common origin in the region around Leipzig. One of the key tasks of the study organizer was to keep all notebooks about secret service subjects under lock and seal (literally). This practice seems to have been driven as much by the desire to inculcate a certain discipline in handling classified information as by fear that this was indeed a possible leak for important Stasi secrets. Another was to collect and submit every Monday all platoon members' study plans for the impending week. In these plans the students had to fill in around the fixed lectures their hours of "self-study" which had to take place in the assigned class room:

"We scrupulously controlled this among each other. If people did not minimally register for self-study on two evenings for at least two hours then we considered them to be lazy bums who needed to be dealt with through the means of the party. And really good were those who came to 55 to 60 hours of total work time per week. Those were regarded as the "conscious" (bewußt) ones."

One day, Haferkamp and his friends while registered for self-study were caught playing skat in their room, arguably Germany's most popular card game. The trio of functionaries "got beaten verbally for this" that is they were officially and publicly reprimanded. And again my question of whether he got angry at those comrades turning him in: "I wouldn't even call them informers. We didn't act in a party-adequate manner and if somebody else would have taken that liberty we would also have 'beaten them up’." However, his wife added to our conversation at this point: "One thing is quite certain, you were quite angry then!"


Both cases reveal an interesting fashioning of understandings in terms of the ethics of absolute finality. They are interesting pieces in the archeology of a socialist or better perhaps, a partisan personality. What both stories reveal is that it took emotional and cognitive labor to achieve it. In Buchholz' case this labor shines through in the cracks between the ostentatious denial of emotional hurt and a passionately dispassionate attention to minute detail. The pointer to a process of critique and self-critique makes available a very common practice of personality formationwhich was used in widely varying degrees of formality. In terms of the sociology of understanding, it operates through the mobilization of a massive negative recognition the effect of which is supposed to strengthen super-ego in its conflict with ego. Super-ego then has to speak, publicly affirming the negative recognition of ego which ideally moves ego to reconsider his or her understandings, leading to an identity in which the ego-super-ego conflicts are greatly diminished. Haferkamp's words form a seamless account of perfect self-objectification, the labor of which becomes transparent only in his wife's intercession. 

What both cases reveal as well is the production of a consciousness which emphasizes mutual observation and enforcement of the party line. Personal allegiances, friendships, intimacy all considered bourgeois forms of sociality were not supposed to interfere with the primary allegiance to the party. Ideally intimacy between people was the product of shared allegiance. Mielke expressed this again and again in speeches to his men by asking them to practice "comradeship" (based on self-objectification) not "camaraderie" (putatively based on subjectivist likes and dislikes). Many officers and other functionaries of the party have expressed their surprise in how fast the social fabric of the party and that of Stasi colleagues disintegrated after the dissolution of first Stasi and then the GDR. However, this is precisely what one would expect of networks built on the ethics of absolute finality. The breakdown of personality forming institutional arrangements doing their work through organized validation, leads to subsequent changes of personality, unless some counter-vailing institute takes its place.

Leaving Eiche, the officers were reintegrated into some unit of the ministry or of the district administrations. Arriving there, they were assigned their first object responsibilities (see chapter 2, p. @) which meant that they had to introduce themselves to the leaders of these objects as Stasi's point person in charge of security. Since these objects were often enough veritable institutions such as hospitals, publishing houses, or whole branches of universities, the officers were, many of them barely 20 years old, faced with much older much more experienced leaders of these institutions. Horst Haferkamp recounts how he braced himself for the first encounter with the director of a research institute which became his first object:

"I scratched my head and began to think really hard and then I cheered myself up by thinking this: I said to myself, I am the Stasi, he is a professor and director of an institute. Could you become a professor and director of an institute? Yes you could (laughs), not today and not tomorrow but in principle you could. Could he become a Stasi officer? Never (laughs), completely unsuitable, much too stupid (laughs), not intellectually, but politically! So why should you fear him? … In my entire life [until then] I always had to conduct conversations with professors wearing an expression of credulity; but now I stood for something, in this case a ministry!"

Most officers have stories of this kind. The prospect of such encounters was at first frightening but then also exhilarating as they felt they were charged with a responsibility which made them appear in spite of the age difference as equals of sorts if not in some sense even as superiors, because the realm of political allegiance was opening up a whole new sphere of value. Another officer expressed this sense of a basic equality in terms of expertise: "He is an expert in his field, which happens to be medicine, I am an expert in mine, which happens to be security." These encounters filled most officers with pride especially once they had overcome their initial anxieties. The organization that lend them power led them into situations where they had to be recognized at least formally by others, people who until recently would have looked as if they were operating on a much more elevated plane. Now they faced each other as equals—at least that’s how the officers came to see it. Moreover they were encountering people whom most of their parents would never stood a chance to meet on a formally equal footing. Thus the bond was strengthened between the organization they represented and self. With the imprimatur of Stasi they were now important. Their cards identifying them as officers of Stasi became tokens of recognition for their new-found, indeed exalted value.


The fact that theses institutional leaders had to meet with them does of course not imply that they welcomed these young Stasi officers with open arms or that they took them particularly seriously. In fact, the officers' stories are shot through with hints that these organizational leaders—especially if they did not have a party background—did not particularly care for their "security concerns”. In the best case they though it was silly, a nuisance really stealing their time. In the worst case they took it as a pretext to snoop around their turf or even to put them under surveillance which they did not welcome at all. Haferkamp tells how his predecessor in another institute which he soon took over from him as his second object was almost thrown out by the director when he introduced himself. He remembers his colleague's account of the director's words as: "I too think calm and order and security are very important, and I am sure you can very productively contribute to it by not disturbing us in our work." Haferkamp continues:

"You must remember that in the 1950s and 60s the SED wasn't quite in command yet in the Academy [of Sciences]. The old professors, who were established from before 1945 and who had a scientific reputation also were politically quite powerful [in their respective institutes]. … We couldn't quite say 'fist in face' I will teach you! No, no, in such cases we just withdrew to our hearth to huddle with each other about what to do next…"

The choice of metaphors here underlines the epistemic force of their interlocutors' doubts about the meaningfulness of their role as security agents. These doubts had to be overcome, young as they were, through the warming recognition of their growing identifications with party state and Stasi work within their own authority networks.


 Thus it was all the more important that through their own work they should be able to corroborate their own understandings. And thus Haferkamp said:

"All that changed soon, about a year later, when we locked up the first spy from his institute who had worked for an American service. This of course strengthened our position vis-à-vis him and the entire institute now that we didn't have to say there might be someone with evil intentions and could instead point out 'you had an administrative director who was a spy'….now nobody could say anymore we just make that up that problem with security."

Easing the task of explaining to the leadership of their objects why their work was significant was of course as important as being able to tell just that to themselves while furnishing the organization through these cases with a repertoire of stories which could be told time and again to corroborate claims about the acuity and violence of class warfare.
Corroborating Work Experiences


So here, then, is the story of how Haferkamp caught "his" first spy, which he tells, needless to say, with gusto. The story proper begins with Haferkamp taking over the four secret informants his predecessors had recruited among his first assigned institute's employees. The quartet was of varying quality or "caliber." One informant, a secretary, had been recruited as a means to atone for some minor criminal act the charges for which were dropped in a peculiarly socialist version of plea bargaining in exchange for regular information. As all officers never tire to point out, informants recruited this way, that is with pressure, were typically lacking independent drive, and were therefore for most serious purposes rather ineffective. So with this lady ("she could have been my mother") who more or less kept Haferkamp up to date on the gossip in the institute and skipped as many meetings as she could possibly find excuses for. One of the other three, however, was deemed so valuable that there was some hesitation at first as to whether "greenhorn"
 Haferkamp could really be entrusted with guiding him. Yet his boss insisted on it "for else he might just as well sent him packing." The informant's code name was "falcon;"
 he was the head of research of one of the institute's four or five departments. Already in his early 50ies, he was significantly older than the director who was something of an early high-flyer (a clue, perhaps, to why the "falcon" might have engaged in Stasi work in the first place). The meetings between Haferkamp and his "falcon" were at some level rituals of virility: smoking a pack of "Orient" then the GDR's most expensive cigarette brand, while drinking a good half bottle of cognac (both courtesy of Stasi) was de rigueur. Haferkamp was keenly aware that keeping up was part of being accepted across the wide age difference.


One day in late 1958 Haferkamp was called by his somewhat cantankerous boss, whom he – as he explains digressing from the main story line - respected greatly, not least because he was a partisan fighting the Nazi army in World War II. The boss asked him to bring all of the object's documents along. This was then still possible, Haferkamp explains, because they were still rather lean. As his boss began to leaf through the files, he stumbled across an information they had gotten from another unit and which caught his immediate attention. The institute's administrative director had been seen late in the evening in a somewhat intoxicated state at Bahnhof Friedrichstrasse (the commuter rail station handling the transit across the then still open border with West Berlin). So his boss looked up saying: "Why haven't you put this guy behind bars yet?" Haferkamp had seen the piece of paper but did not think it was significant. His boss, however, felt it was good enough to launch a formal investigation for suspicion of treason and this is what Haferkamp hurried to do.


So Haferkamp instructed "falcon" to become better friends with the administrative director of the institute, a task in which he succeeded to the degree that he could collect evidence that the administrative director, at this point well into his seventies, began to ship more and more of his belongings to West Berlin in an apparent attempt to flee. Once the apartment was emptied to such a degree that this fact itself constituted enough evidence to prove the intention, a felony in the GDR, Stasi arrested him and his daughter, who although already in her early thirties, still lived with her parents. 

Searching the house Haferkamp and his colleagues found at first nothing of note which could have proven espionage such as photographs, documents, radio equipment or code lists. Alas, in a corner of the kitchen were the householders kept odd bits and pieces, Haferkamp zeroed in on an inconspicuous slip of paper with nothing more than a phone number scribbled on its face. However, the first two digits revealed that it was most certainly a West Berlin number, a fact which was, as anything western, always cause for suspicion. Running this number against Stasi's registry revealed that this was indeed a number used by an American intelligence agency. Whatever became of the case Haferkamp only knows from hearsay. Although he had personally arrested the administrative director, he was not involved in the interviews conducted at Stasi's jail and or the trial itself. Apparently the administrative director confessed quickly implicating two more people and was sentenced to 15 years in prison. He did not know what kinds of secrets he did betray or even could have betrayed.

 Spy catcher stories are important for the consolidation of Stasi officer's understandings of their work, and its place in the socialist project. Direct participation in such actions corroborated Manichaean understandings of class conflict and provided a recognizing rationale for their work. Needless to say that as successes of the organization they also typically led to the formal recognition of the officers who had a hand in the success by awarding them premiums or medals or by promoting them. Narratives of successful actions could also be used by superiors to request more effort from other members who were less successful.
 They were of course used for training purposes, both to demonstrate the validity of socialist ideology and to discuss particular kinds of techniques. Until 1961 Stasi used selective episodes as well to produce road-shows in which it would present itself to a larger public in an effort both to legitimate its own existence and the further reaching claims of the party regarding the hostile intentions of the class enemy. Although such stories are a constitutive part of many officer's pre-1961 direct or more often indirect experience, they are not as common as one might think given that this is what Abwehrarbeit ("counter-espionage") was supposed to be about. They are exceedingly rare for the time after 1961. The reason was in plain sight: the Wall. But before I can discuss the officers' relation to the Wall, I want to discuss a case of the second type of criminal activity Stasi was supposed to thwart or clear up once committed: sabotage.

The identification, arrest and conviction of saboteurs had a similarly corroborating effect on Stasi officers regarding their understanding of socialism the position of the GDR in the world and their own role as successful spy-hunting. Sabotage too demonstrated to them that it was enemy activity which led to actions in the GDR which could create considerable damage to the socialist project. Here is Haferkamp's story of how he (in close collaboration with a colleague whom he credits with the key idea) caught "his" only saboteur. The Academy of Sciences built a brand new institute for physical chemistry. One Monday morning the workers returned from the weekend and found on a whole floor, in 10 to 12 rooms that were destined to become lab rooms, all electric wires cut level with the wall. The damage was considerable in as far as the walls had to be reopened for rewiring which caused a delay in completing the building. The same morning a young man in his early twenties failed to report for work at the construction site. As it turned out, over the weekend he had fled to West Berlin. And it was him who emerged as prime suspect in this case. "For us it was quickly clear, if not yet proven in a juridical sense, that it could only have been him." The background knowledge that led them to this conclusion was that although every East German fleeing to the West could claim citizenship, those able to prove that they were persecuted by the state could become recognized formally through a document whose name Haferkamp remembers as "C-slip" which entitled its holder to more assistance (for example in securing an apartment). He argues that this fact was propagated via Western media throughout the GDR and here especially by the RIAS
 radio station.

So they set out a trap, which basically consisted in making their suspect feel unsuspected. They told the young man's parents, whom of course they had interviewed, that they had indeed identified the perpetrator and that it wasn't their son. And thus the son returned as he might have thought one last time from his refugee camp in West Berlin to meet his parents, bid them proper farewell and possibly take along a few things more. This was of course what Haferkamp and his colleagues had waited for and they arrested him right in front of his parent's door. He confessed and was sentenced to several years in prison. 

This story is particularly interesting for the conclusion Haferkamp seems to have drawn from it then and which he still seems to believe now. He argues that this story is proof

 "that our contention that the damaging of the GDR was organized from over there (drüben) was not in every case correct, but it was in principle correct. One shouldn't think about this in too simple a way assuming that everybody [doing damage here] had his guidance officer who told him what actions to undertake against the GDR. This process worked via the media and we were therefore also correct to say that RIAS is a radio station disseminating inflammatory speech [Hetzsender], that is an agency undertaking sabotage against the GDR. What they have said has effected the head of this young man in such a way, that he allowed himself to be made a criminal, because he thought he could secure this way a better starting position for himself over there. And this wasn't even stupid, because this is how it really was."

The significance of Haferkamp's conclusion lies for one in foreshadowing the way Stasi officers later thought (and often continue to think) about the members of the GDR opposition. But it also highlights how deeply entrenched the model of a consciousness driven social transformation has become in explaining human behavior. Since he knew that socialism tried to influence the minds of its citizenry through mass mediated propaganda to accept a particular understanding of the world, he assumed that western media would do the same. And just as the East was centrally organized and coordinated in this effort, so the assumption, must the West.

The Berlin Wall as Relief

In this story and in many previous ones, the boundary between East and West plays a significant role. The much longer boundary between both countries stretching over hundreds of miles from the Baltic Sea in the north to the Thuringian/Bavarian Forests in the south had already been made virtually impenetrable in the early 1950s. Owing to the formal sovereignty of the four allied powers of World War II however, the boundaries within Berlin, remained open. That is until 13 August 1961 when a wall was finally erected to bring the free movement between both parts of Berlin to an abrupt halt.


This open boundary was a continuous source of problem for Stasi officers not only because it facilitated espionage and sabotage actions, but because people in the officers object responsibility continued to flee the GDR, leaving behind painful gaps. Officers all investigated cases of "desertion from the republic" (Republikflucht)
 not least because it might involve "trafficking in humans with intentions inimical to the state"(staatsfeindlicher Menschenhandel). Since the officers were deeply invested in the socialist project, and since they also identified with their task to secure a particular object, they tended to perceive every case of flight as personal defeat. Horst Haferkamp expresses these feelings with the following words.

 "I personally didn't scare off these people but they were in my domain of responsibility. And if somebody ran away here [from my domain] it was different than if somebody fled from someone else's domain of responsibility. In this sense it was quite a defeat, this is difficult to explain because irrational factors play a role here too, even if in particular cases one could understand some of their motives, if they had been treated badly…Yet the fact remains that for me they were traitors too, I don't want to hide this, even today. These were people who in their majority left for base reasons, because one could live materially better over there, at least for the moment…Among professionals such as doctors this was contemptible because it always affected patients."

Besides abandoning people, an argument heard also for teachers, the most often quoted reason why officers thought that fleeing the GDR was immoral is that the refugees had all enjoyed the privilege of obtaining a good education in the GDR just to capitalize on it in the FRG.


The official version of why people abandoned the GDR was again that the enemy in the West tried to solve its own labor shortage problems by actively recruiting GDR citizens. Officers speak in this context of "recruiting campaigns" (Abwerbungskampagnen). Letters from people who had already fled to others still in the GDR whom they encouraged to follow suit are often quoted as evidence. And so is the fact that the FRG did much to lower the cost of transition by not only providing every refugee from East Germany with citizenship and accordingly with the right to work, but also by running a system of "transition camps" (Durchgangslager) giving refugees not only a place to go which also provided active help in establishing them in the West again. 


However, Stasi was also keenly aware that there were by no means just "pull reasons" in form of opportunities and hopes realistic or not that led people to flee but that there were also home grown "push reasons" that made them want to go. Karl Maier's first object upon graduating from Eiche in 1958 was the ministry for people's education whose main responsibility was the GDR's system of K-12 education. He recounts how they began to undertake systematic efforts to stem the tide of teachers leaving the country. The basic idea was to remove what they called "conflict situations" by using Stasi's possibilities to cut through ordinary bureaucratic pathways of conflict resolution. Thus secret informants everywhere were supposed to spot the people who were dissatisfied and looked as if they might jump ship not to begin criminal procedures but to see what could be done positively to keep people in the GDR.


Maier also recalls how the minister at this point had the idea of producing a propaganda brochure not, and this is the real novelty, based on socialism's understanding of history, but grounded in interviews with returnees (of which there were also some) about the conditions in the West and why it was preferable to stay in the East, difficulties notwithstanding. Thus Stasi conducted interviews which it presented to a professor at Humboldt University who was supposed to write the brochure. Alas, the "measure of 13 August 1961" as the building of the Wall was called in official GDR lingo, thwarted all further plans in this direction. The Wall brought a sigh of relief to all officers I have interviewed. Literally overnight they were discharged of a considerable professional burden, which too was in effect a constant, gnawing epistemic nuisance, all efforts at rationalization notwithstanding.
 


The building of the Wall was a watershed in the GDR's history. It fundamentally changed the rules of the political game domestically and internationally. Domestically it brought consolidation of sorts. People could no longer live their lives with half an eye to the West thinking "if push comes to shove, I can always leave." By increasing the cost of fleeing to include a gamble on one's very life and by making it virtually impossible to flee in complete family units, the movement of refugees from East to West came, for the time being, to an almost absolute stop. Alas, this benefit of keeping people also led to what in retrospect would end up to become the GDR's most egregious human rights violation: the attempted and all to often successful assassination of anybody who tried to cross the border in defiance of it, a policy which ended up costing hundreds of people their lives. In the longer run this proved to be a burden for international relations as well.
 In the short run, however, the Wall undoubtedly strengthened the GDR's position because it literally forced its recognition as a partner in negotiations.

Conclusions


The officers' political epistemics, their original understandings of socialism, the GDR and its "enemies" are presented by them as direct responses to their experiences of and their questions about Nazi Germany and World War II. This naturalized reconstruction of the genesis of their own political understandings clearly bears the traces of the party states' historicizing recognitions which have continuously shaped and reshaped their memories of their own experiences thus molding them in the image of the party's own prescribed understanding of the past.  This does not mean, however, that these remembered understandings should be understood as 'fake.' Understandings can only become stabilized and thus memorized in reconstruction. Moreover, for the historicization to proceed as it did, the understandings recognized by the party had to resonate on some level, while the war experiences could in retrospect be taken to corroborate them. This whole process was, with regards to World War II much more a process of systematic selection and consequent disambiguation.


But it was by no means just the ongoing commemoration and invocation of fascism and the war alone which continued to validate the officers' understandings of socialism, the GDR and its position in the world. Their work experiences were just as important. Here their own but also their colleagues’ initial successes in identifying spies and saboteurs corroborated socialism's Manichaean claims about an ever increasing class warfare in which they had a vital role to play. The construction of the Wall in 1961 rang true for other reasons: it deeply resonated with their own desires to rid themselves of the more or less shaming experience of having to account for flight in their own domain of responsibility. Thus without exception all officers I spoke to welcomed the Wall. The fact that the GDR picked up economically after 1961, corroborated the decision to build the Wall retrospectively. Now the state that they so ardently desired to succeed looked more than ever as if it had a real chance to deliver its promis. In their memories, therefore the Wall was a new beginning.


After the Wall spy-catching receded as a source of corroboration for their political understandings, efforts to control oppositional activity began to move into the foreground. The Wall which had put a stop to many cold-war-style operations, of course helped to further oppositional activity not least because the exit option as an outlet for discontent was no longer as readily available. Political events too served to corroborate the officers’ worldview, albeit only indirectly. Without exception, the Prague Spring was seen by the officers as a counterrevolutionary movement which had to be crushed if socialism was to survive. The increasing international recognition of the GDR which was enabled by the rapprochement between both Germanies gave them the impression that the GDR had finally arrived, that it was taken seriously on a world-wide scale. There were other indicators that this was indeed the case. Throughout the 1970 the supply with apartments and durable consumer goods in the GDR increased sharply. The foreign policy successes seemed to be mirrored by appreciably better economic performance. At the same time, Vietnam and the continuing arms race brought home made them more certain that the West did indeed harbor imperialist tendencies and was willing to wage war wherever its interests seemed to be at stake. No doubt, the return to the cold-war rhetoric by the US president Ronald Reagan and by British prime minister Margret Thatcher, the Falklands War and later Nicaragua continued to make this point for them. In face of what they perceived as a manifest military threat, the emerging GDR peace movement seemed to really undermine the military resolve of the  "camp of peace" to the undoubted advantage of the "camp of war."


If these appear like one-sided interpretations of historical events, one must ask how they were sustainable. To understand how, one has to turn to the networks of authority in which these events were discussed and endowed with meaning and in which particular interpretations of them began to look certain. This is what I will do in the next chapter.

� In general, Berliners have preferred to stay in “their” part of Berlin after unification. The exeption from this rule are the high value central locations in East Berlin, the former districts of Mitte and Prenzlauer Berg, where the renovation of  the government quarters and of tourist attractions plus their ancillary infrastructure of restaurants, cafes and shops  has encouraged investors to build luxury appartments  which are mostly inhabited by westerners.


� Not that the rest of the former GDR population had an easier time after unification. However, given the public discourse about Stasi, former officers see more readily than others a causal connection between their present problems and their past.


� Of course the former officers may also have reasons of their own which have little to do with the public image which is produced about them.


� Or for that matter to find conclusive evidence on cases which have remained ambiguous.The two most notorious cases which have received legal clearing and yet remain rather ambiguous are that of the long time PDS chief Gregor Gysi who was a prominent lawyer in the GDR (as well as the son of the prominent politician civil servant Klaus Gysi) and that of Brandenburg's first post-unification governor Manfred Stolpe who subsequently served in Schröder’s government as federal minister of transportation.


� The historical center of Berlin, the district of "Mitte," literally "center" was part of East Berlin. Since unification it as well as the increasingly pretty and consequentially pseudo-Bohemian areas around Kollwitzplatz in Prenzlauerberg have seen an enormous inmigration of westerners.


� This was a move in a much larger campaign against the cultural and political achievements of the 1968 unrest with clear nationalist undertones. 


� On the notion of theoretically relevant sampling see Glaeser 2004.


� Bogner did not recall the name of the camp nor the type planes constructed there. I suspect that it was the camp, known under the name "Thekla" or "Leipzig-Thekla." However, Bogner did recall that it was part of the “Erla-Maschinenwerke”. And they did indeed produce Me 109 fighters in licence from Messerschmidt in Munich in the Thekla camp.


� Margaret Bourke-White has documented the massacres the SS committed among concentration camp outposts in Leipzig photographically. Some of these pictures were widely circulated through Time-Life Magazine. See also Margarte Bourke-White, 1946. 


� The positive recognition does not even have to be primarily an explicitly ideological one, although it may by default imply or engender one. His parents for example signaled to him “that they were very happy that he was taken care of”, which simply means, as Bogner points out, that he was for the time he was there “out of danger”. And this did according to Bogner not refer to the possibility of a moral corruption, but simply to the very practical concern that he was not playing on the nearby railroad tracks, in the ruins of bombed out buildings, or the nearby gravel yard.


�After the mainstream of the Social Democrats (SPD) supported World War I, an independent group of internationalists who later formed the communist party (KPD) broke away. This led to the dual proclamation of a republic on 9 November 1918 by Philipp Scheidemann, a social democrat and Karl Liebknecht, a communist. After the murder of Rosa Luxemburg and Karl Liebknecht by right wing forces with which the social democrats had aligned themselves, German communists came ever more closely under Soviet control. By the end of the 1920s the KPD was in effect a Stalinist organization. Seeing each other hence as principal enemies, the German labor movement came to be deeply split. This split, a fundamental aspect of both parties’ self-narratives, had significant repercussions all the way to reunification policies in the 1990s.  


� The three other interviewees from that corner of East Germany which was under brief American occupation have very similar contrasting narratives about the American and Russian occupational regimes. Interestingly, other officers who have encountered the Americans in Berlin (three months later) have no such stories.


� Other officers have also pointed out that the incidence of Russian atrocities may have been exaggerated precisely because socialism and the Russians created dissonances which can be traced back to Nazi propaganda


� The only alternative to an active identification is a situation where there is no alternative to the fashioning agency. 


� In interview such past actuality comes to the fore as a juxtaposition of different understandings in the course of time as in “then I thought x, but then event A happened and I began to think y instead”.


� In only one case the father of a Stasi officer was a member of the NSdAP during the War. Karl Maier says: "My father became unemployed in 1930. He was a member of the NSdAP and welcomed the Nazis with enthusiasm. But in 1946 he joined the SED. I think he honestly worked through his past, and he had a lasting influence on me."


� Collins (2004) notion of “emotional energy” accounts for the fact that Durkheimian effervescence comes about in shades and gradations while being generated not only in elaborate rituals, but also in many everyday interactions which thus have ritualistic character. 


� Some opposition members, for example, participated in the activities of the Protestant Youth organization and the FDJ. In these cases parents were often instrumental in managing the domains for which these organizations and their leaders would obtain authority. Needless to say that such efforts can also backfire to the detriment of the authorities who undertake such management efforts.


� This is of course well known to anybody participating in a reputation game, be they academics, financiers or talk show hosts.


� In socialism it was always a matter of particular dignity to be “called to”, “delegated to” (delegiert) or “charged” (beauftragt) with a job or position. The point in using these lexemes was to emphasize that one did not apply out of the presumption of individual qualification but that one was selected as qualified (and thus recognized) by an organization representing some community. Accordingly the use of these term with respect to one’s own occupation was typically connected with a sense of pride—much in the same way that in capitalist liberal democracies the winning of a competition is a matter of pride. 


� In a few cases actual conversations began under cover, yet these seem to be occasions where Stasi's interest was aroused for other reasons and recruiting emerged as a possibility along the way.


� In part the lack of knowledge led to helpless statements. Jürgen Buchholz for example reported that his father said  "that [Stasi] is the same thing as the Gestapo [Nazi secret police] – just the other way round [purportedly meaning: this time fighting for the good]."


� Of course I am working with ultimate self-selection sampling here: I don't know of anybody who was approached and rejected it


� Although this aspect too was quite straining for some who were taken aback by the frequency of explicit jokes among their colleagues, or precisely by such contacts with people at the margins of society. 


� Accordingly the long list of duties in the statutes of the SED (cf. Benser 1986, 1) exhort members to be merely "sincere and honest vis-à-vis the party" and that only after the principles of absolute finality have become abundantly clear. In the "socialist ten commandments" (cf. ZK 1959, 160-61) which was addressing a wider citizenry, honesty is not mentioned directly at all but seems to be subsumed under an exhortation to live "decently" which again comes late in the list (number 9) and after the contribution to the realization of socialism have been featured first.


� As one might expect of a secret police organization, its officers typically wore plain clothes. Exceptions to this role were the passport control units, as well as division II which as a whole had the National People's Army as its object. For festive occasions officers wore dark suits and ties with their medals and only for very rare occasions did they wear their dress uniforms. The monthly military training was conducted in fatigues.


� The German equivalent expression is junger Dachs ("badger").


� Since code names were chosen by officers or their informants they can shed occasionally a revealing light on underlying emotions: here obviously the hope that the informant be useful in what is basically understood as a hunt by either the informant his first guidance officer or both. 


� What had similarly corroborating effects were the identification and arrest of what Stasi considered saboteurs (most notably member's of the social democrats' "office for Eastern affairs (Ostbüro), or the arrest of major criminals, arsonists or murderers.


� RIAS is an acronym standing for Rundfunk im amerikanischen Sektor (Radio in the American [occupational] sector [of Berlin]"). In GDR rhetoric it was the epitome of enemy propaganda mass media.


� Literally the word means "flight from the republic." However it is built on the model of the German word for "desertion" (from the military) which is Fahnenflucht which means literally "flight from the flag." Since its use was always meant as a moral condemnation as will become clear in an instant, the translation "desertion from the republic" is more accurate as it more adequately carries the moral weight of the charge.


� How significant an event in the officers’ life it really was became only fully apparent to me by attending a meeting of the Insider-Komitee a group of former Stasi officers dedicated to talking about, investigating and writing on the history of Stasi., which was dedicated to the building of the Wall. Not only was that sigh of relief clearly audible four decades removed, but it was a uniform sigh. The officers reconfirmed in community that there was no other way for the GDR then, and they also agreed on the fact that the atmosphere which at least from their perspective took hold in the following 10-15 years were perhaps the best 10 years the GDR has had. 


� The estimates for the number of deaths at the wall around West Berlin and the increasingly fortified "intra-German border" vary widely. The following figures indicate deaths first until and then since 13. August 1961. The Berlin state prosecutor's office which led the juridical investigation into cases of government crime after unification lists 270 deaths directly attributable to the use of firearms or the explosion of mines by the GDR border troops. The Berlin state police's former office for the investigation of government crimes lists 431 cases since the foundation of the GDR including deaths at the borders to Poland and the Czechoslovakia which could be classified as "politically motivated." The count of a private initiative lists all deaths of people who have died "in consequence of the GDR border regime which includes suicides, accidents with firearms etc. Its counter has arrived at 1008 deaths (22. August 2003) www.chronik-der-mauer.de/begleitung/statistik/todesopfer.html 
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